UNITED
NATIONS C RC

Convention on the D ERAL
Rights of the Child CRC/ O/ SR 392
6 June 1997

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fi fteenth session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 392nd MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Tuesday, 3 June 1997, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 97- 16875 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 6) (continued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan (continued) (CRC/ C/ 11/ Add.8; CRC U Q AZER/ 1)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the del egation of Azerbaijan
resuned its place at the Conmmittee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON invited the del egation of Azerbaijan to reply to the
guestions asked by members of the Conmittee at the previous neeting.

3. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan), referring to the questions concerning State
support for orphans and for refugee and disabled children, said that in 1992
all such children had been freed of the obligation to pay taxes for comrunal
services. The Suprene Comm ssariat for Refugee Affairs provided resources
for refugee children and had al so established a social and psychol ogi ca
rehabilitation progranme. However, the assistance provided was insufficient,
given that children were extrenely traumati zed by the effects of war.

4, Since the end of 1992, 40 international humanitarian organizati ons had
been operating in Azerbaijan. The Cabinet of Mnisters had set up a specia
structure to coordinate activities with them Each year United Nations bodies
moni tored those activities, studied the needs of refugees and furnished

mat eri al assistance for them

5. Wth regard to ill-treatment of children in the famly, a special
section on the matter would be included in the new Crimnal Code that was
currently in preparation

6. In the fornmer Soviet Union, adopted children did not have the right to
di scover the identity of their natural parents, as it was considered that they
woul d be unduly traumatized. |In contrast, under Azerbaijan's proposed new

| egi slation children would have the right to ook for their parents.

7. Simlarly, in the former Soviet Union, children without parents were
usually confined to special institutions accommodating up to 500 orphans at
one tinme. As an independent State, Azerbaijan was currently seeking to reduce
t he nunber of children in institutions by placing themin a normal famly

envi ronnent .

8. It was recogni zed that individual cases of violence against children

and between nen and wonen, did occur. Efforts were nmade, however, to prevent
famly conflicts in order to avoid their negative effects on children. The
recomendati ons which nmenbers of the Conmittee had nmade concerning famlies in

poverty were nost useful. A study carried out in 1996 had established that
over half the popul ation of Azerbaijan lived bel ow the poverty line. The
psychol ogi cal condition of such famlies was being nonitored. It was the task

of the State to create jobs and snall businesses with the aimof alleviating
poverty.



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 3

9. As a result of the war, 20,000 people had been killed in Azerbaijan and
many famlies had been | eft wi thout a breadw nner. Organizations had been set
up to assist single nothers, including one called “Wthout You”. A specia
NGO commi ttee was al so dealing with such problens.

10. Certain instances of nmothers leaving their children in hospital had been
cited. However, that was not a nass phenonenon and was usually the result of
soci al problens. The phenonenon of adol escent suicide was also rare. Cases,
sonme of which had been reported in the press, were the subject of

i nvestigation by the authorities.

11. M. GARAEV (Azerbaijan) said that the mechanismset up in Azerbaijan to
monitor the inplenentation of the Convention was a State institution. The
country al so had a Commi ssion on Mnors' Affairs, which was being reorganized
for the purpose of neeting the requirements of the Convention. [Its nenbers

i ncluded representatives of State bodies and public organi zati ons who had set
t hensel ves the task of helping to resolve children's problens. Regular

meeti ngs of the Commi ssion were held at which reports were presented by State
authorities and NGOCs.

12. In all cities and regions of Azerbaijan there were governnental
authorities responsible for children's affairs. The Special Comm ssions
which, in the former Soviet Union, had dealt with the problemof difficult
children had recently been restored. The new commi ssions worked with deprived
children and al so coordi nated action designed to protect children's rights.
Opposition parties and NGOs were able to participate in the nonitoring of such
action at the local and regional |evels.

13. Ref erence had been made to the |ack of information and of schoo

t ext books on the subject of children's rights. |In that connection he drew
attention to the fact that in the past 100 years the al phabet in use in
Azer bai jan had changed three tines and that schools currently did not possess
enough textbooks in the Azeri |anguage with the new script. However, the

M ni stry of Education was endeavouring to publish sufficient textbooks for
children between the ages of 6 and 10 in order to ensure that they were wel
educated. The State was not yet in a position to publish sufficient teaching
mat eri al s and appropriate technical assistance frominternationa

organi zations woul d therefore be greatly appreciated.

14. Ms. SARDENBERG said that, in review ng the education system it was
i nportant to take account of the problem of gender stereotypes, whose

el imnation should be undertaken in inplenentation of the recommendati ons
of the Fourth World Conference on Wonen held in Beijing.

15. In connection with the problens of institutions for orphans, and for

di sabl ed, abandoned and sick children, he enphasized the need to inplenent
article 25 of the Convention which called for periodic review of the placenent
of children in care. The decisions taken by conpetent authorities should be
reviewed on the basis of article 3 of the Convention, which provided that the
child s best interests should always be the primry consideration



CRC/ C/ SR. 392

page 4
16. She woul d Iike sone clarification of the neaning of the ternms “difficult
children”, and “gifted children”. The latter was a positive term but could

give rise to discrimnation

17. Inits witten replies the Government of Azerbaijan had indicated that
envi ronnental problens were tackled by the State authorities, including

| aw- enf or cement agencies. More information should be provided on that

subj ect, as such problens had a very serious inpact on children's health.

18. M. RABAH asked whet her sexual abuse and prostitution of children were
serious problens in Azerbaijan, whether pollution was affecting children
living in cities and whether there were problens with the quality of water
suppl i es.

19. Ms. KARP said that the information provided by the del egati on concerning
the new nechani sm for the coordination and nonitoring of action for the
protection of children was of great interest. The nmechani sm should al so
provide for the maxim zation of resources, the elimnation of duplication

and the devel opment of a multidisciplinary strategy.

20. Regardi ng the possibility of establishing nechanisns for the subm ssion
of conplaints by children, he said that such nechani sns should be easily
accessi bl e and should be established in conjunction with the nonitoring and
coordi nati on mechani smintroduced, but should neverthel ess also be able to
function independently.

21. Studies on children's issues and on fam |y violence and child abuse
were being carried out. It was inportant that effective use was made of
their findings in planning the enforcenent of |aws designed to conmbat such
practices. Studies of the problemof street children should be undertaken to
deternmine the rel ati onshi p between donestic violence and child abuse on the
one hand and children who | eft honme to live on the streets on the other

22. A |l arge nunber of displaced children had been one consequence of the war
i n which Azerbaijan had been involved. How many children had been affected?
How many had been reunited with their famlies and what had been done to help
t henf

23. Turning to the famly environnent, she asked what was the attitude in
Azer bai jan towards public awareness canpaigns and efforts to teach famlies
about the right of children to participate. WAas such a right part of the
nati onal culture and, if not, what was done to encourage it, not only in
court and adm nistrative decisions but also in everyday famly life?

24. Finally, what was the general attitude towards corporal punishment in
the honme? Had attenpts been made to educate fanilies not to enploy such forns
of punishnent? Also, was corporal punishnment prohibited in schools and, if
so, what other disciplinary nmeasures had been introduced?

25. Ms. MOKHUANE asked what Azerbaijan's policy was with regard to
pre-school and early child devel opnent. Had specific nmeasures been
i ntroduced to assess standards in the centres that had been established?




CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 5

26. It was inportant to inprove school buildings and to equip schools with
the necessary infrastructure such as heating and sanitary facilities. G ven
the |l evel of destruction of schools and other educational establishments in
the war, she was concerned about the quality of basic education. Had the
Government introduced m ninumcurricula requirenents?

27. The initial report submtted by Azerbaijan did not contain any

i nformati on on adol escent health. Wat was the system of data collection and
moni toring? Had progranmes for suicide prevention been set up, given the
apparent psychol ogi cal traunma experienced by children, and what was done to
promote mental health at the national |evel?

28. Ms. MBO, noting the considerable success achieved in conbating
polionyelitis, diphtheria and tuberculosis and in the testing of blood for HV
and hepatitis, expressed the hope that the Governnent and people of Azerbaijan
woul d be able further to inprove health and nutrition in what was a very
difficult situation.

29. The very high rate of infant and child nortality in Azerbaijan was a
matter for concern. The rising nortality rate anong the under-fives as a
result of neasles and sexually transmtted di seases was all the nore worrying
as those problens were preventable. Furthernore, the tradition of
breastfeedi ng had greatly declined.

30. She noted that the maternal nortality rate had al nost doubled in the
past two years, and was concerned about access to reproductive-health and
fam | y-pl anni ng services. Access to nodern contraceptives for nmen and women
of reproductive age appeared to be extrenely limted. That gave rise to
unwant ed pregnanci es and hence to abortion and associated health risks.

Was reliable information on abortion avail abl e?

31. Wth regard to access to reproductive-health and fam |y-planning
servi ces, especially for adol escents, reference had been made to training
provi ded for doctors and the general public. However, it was necessary to
det erm ne what services were avail able for adol escent and young married
couples. As risks were increasing in nost countries, services should not
be denied to those who sought them

32. Concern had been expressed regarding the situation of internally
di spl aced persons. However, a health and nutrition study published in
April 1996 had indicated that the situation of internally displaced persons
was not a great deal worse than that of people who had not left their home.

33. It was desirable to introduce conprehensive public health strategies,
with clear priorities focused on education, preventive nmeasures, maternal and
child health, famly planning and reproductive health. Those strategies
shoul d be conpl enented by the allocation of resources, conmunity nobilization
and technical assistance in order to inprove the situation of children in
Azer bai j an.



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 6

34. Ms. OUEDRAOGO reni nded the del egati on of her previous question
concerning the divorce rate in Azerbaijan. She also wi shed to know whet her
soci al workers attended to the physical and nental welfare of children whose
parents were divorced.

35. Breast f eedi ng shoul d be encouraged not only to protect the child's
health but also to establish an emptional |ink between the nother and child.
Was Azerbaijan participating in the UNI CEF programme to pronote breastfeeding
and, if so, what results had been achieved to date?

36. The witten reply to question 33 of the list of issues referred to
Mnistry of Health treatnent and prevention centres designed to reduce the
nortality rate fromaccidents. Had studies been undertaken to identify
acci dent causes and had preventive action been taken in school s?

37. She gathered that the high incidence of congenital deformties,
hereditary illness, anaem a and cardi ac and renal problens was related in many
cases to exposure to industrial chemcals and to pesticides in the cotton

i ndustry and other agricultural activities. Ws the Governnent contenplating
some form of protection, for exanple in the form of products designed to

of fset the effects of toxic gases?

38. Was t here an awar eness-buil ding programme to prevent the spread of
di arrhoeal and infectious diseases and to control iodine deficiency disorders
whi ch were endem c in some nountain regions?

39. As indicators of the quality of education, she inquired about the norm
class size and the average drop-out ratio. Wat was the status of teachers in
society, inter alia in terns of renuneration? Ws the Covernnent responsible
for curriculumcontent in schools where mnority | anguages were taught? WAs
primary education conpul sory and what neasures had been taken to ensure that
children enjoyed the right to education guaranteed under article 28 of the
Convention? Was corporal punishnent tolerated in school s?

40. She al so asked whether the Mnistry of Youth and Sport or any other

bodi es operated recreational or cultural programres for young people at the
nati onal, regional or nunicipal levels. To what extent did girls participate
in such programes?

41. M. KOLOSQV, noting that nost drugs and nedical supplies in Azerbaijan
were inported and extrenely expensive, asked what neasures had been taken to
ensure that children had access to appropriate nedical treatnment, particularly
where a surgical operation was required.

42. Ms. KARP asked whether there was a plan of action, an

awar eness-bui | di ng programme or pre-narriage counselling to deal with the
probl em of thal assaem a. Had the health services access to appropriate
equi pnent for testing?

43. What action was taken to ensure that school playgrounds were safe and to
alert famlies to possible sources of accidents in the hone?



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 7

44, She asked whether the statenent in the witten reply to question 37 of
the Iist of issues to the effect that international cooperation in dealing
wi th environmental problenms was not excluded neant that technical assistance
was bei ng request ed.

45. Referring to the witten replies to questions 31 and 32, she observed
that only a snmall proportion of disabled children were receiving State
support. For exanple, only 30 disabled children had been provided with
prosthetic appliances and only 25 with wheelchairs. Ws there any strategy to
i ncrease the nunber of children receiving support and to integrate theminto
society? Were facilities for disabled children available in regular school s?
She understood that children with official disability status were entitled to
speci al benefits but that the famlies of many eligible children and even
their doctors were unaware of the existence of such benefits.

46. M. RABAH noted fromthe witten reply to question 39 that instruction
in schools was provided in at |east three | anguages. How did the resulting
mul tilingual environnment affect intercommunal relations anmong young peopl e?
What | anguages were used in universities and the mass nedi a?

47. Ms. OUEDRAOXO i nquired what government action was being taken to
address problens relating to the disposal of toxic waste and petrol eum
residues. Had the possibility of noving people away from certain polluted
areas been consi dered?

48. Ms. MXHUANE asked whet her the coll apse of a nunber of youth

organi zations in Azerbaijan had led to a vacuumin the area of |eisure
activities for young people. What forns of recreation apart fromthe visua
medi a were avail able to thenf?

49. M. EFENDI EV said that Azerbaijani had been identified as the State

| anguage in both the present Constitution and its predecessor. Over

80 per cent of the popul ation were ethnic Azeris. However, Russian was used
in the Parlianent and Russi an-speaki ng deputies could use the services of
State interpreters free of charge. A roughly equal number of children's books
were published in Azerbaijani and Russian. State publishing houses al so
produced children's books and school textbooks in other |anguages such as
Lezghin, Talysh and Judaeo-Tati. Newspapers for both adults and children were
published in a wi de range of |anguages. GCeorgian was the |anguage of
instruction in areas inhabited by ethnic Georgians. All secondary schools and
uni versities provided instruction facilities in both Azerbaijani and Russian

50. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan) said that the Conmittee was perhaps not making
sufficient allowance for the gravity of the current situation in Azerbaijan
with 20 per cent of the country under occupation, 1 mllion refugees and a
maj or econom c crisis. Nevertheless all the Cormittee's recomrendati ons woul d
be borne in mind and inpl enented wherever possible.

51. Azer bai jan had special schools for gifted children that focused on

mat hemati cs, physics and chemi stry, and al so specialized boardi ng schools. In
addition, there were schools run by foreign communities, for exanple Turkish
school s, European schools and an English-Ianguage |sraeli school



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 8

52. The refugee probl em had an ecol ogi cal di mension. The biosphere had been
changed by the occupiers, who had destroyed forests and pol |l uted water
reservoirs. Children, especially in Sungait where there were mj or chenica

pl ants, had suffered greatly fromair and water pollution. The |evel of the
Caspian Sea had risen by two netres, submergi ng houses and school s and
affecting sone 20,000 famlies.

53. Owing to the extremely difficult economi c situation, the authorities had
so far been unable to prevent ecol ogically unsound products fromentering the
Azer bai j ani market .

54. There were certainly instances of child prostitution and there was al so
a black market in pornography but they were not w despread phenonena. The
authorities were nonethel ess deeply concerned, also with the phenonenon of
street children, and were doing their best to address those problens.

55. Fam | i es had been successfully reunited in about 1,000 cases but
separation of nenbers of refugee fam lies had not been a nass phenonmenon
Further information on that subject would be provided later in witing.

56. Large fanmlies with five or six children were common in Azerbaijan and
there were strong traditional fam |y bonds. Corporal punishment was
prohibited in both fanmlies and schools and was a rare occurrence. Each

i nstance of ill-treatnent in school was discussed by the teaching staff and
| egal action could be taken against the culprit.

57. Breastfeeding was the traditional practice in Azerbaijan. Some wonen
had switched to substitute products when they cane on the market in the 1970s
and 1980s but recent pronotional work in the nedia and el sewhere had reversed
that trend.

58. About 500 children suffered fromthal assaem a, an inherited disease.
Legi sl ation on the use of donor blood had been adopted as one neans of
protection. Intermarriage between relatives in renpte nmountain vill ages,
often one of the causes of the disease, was di scouraged but not prohibited.

59. About 4,000 school s had been destroyed in the occupied territories.
Educational facilities for displaced persons who had noved to other parts of
Azerbaijan were not ideal. Cl asses were overcrowded and there were often no

funds for providing the schools with heating or glazing wi ndows. Assistance
in that area was being provided by international organizations, particularly
the O fice of the United Nations Hi gh Comni ssioner for Refugees (UNHCR).

60. Recently pronul gated health | egislation dealt with such problens as
child and maternal nortality, fam |y planning, access to drugs and
contraceptives and sterilization. There was little awareness of famly
planning facilities in many rural areas, particularly anobng people living in
tent settlements. The World Health Organization (WHO and Médeci ns sans
fronti éres were providing assistance in famly planning and prevention of
aborti on.

61. About 100, 000 people had been living in the tent settlenents for up to
four years. Their hygienic facilities left nmuch to be desired.



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 9

62. Legi sl ation for the protection and rehabilitation of disabled persons
had recently been adopted and in that context provision had al so been nmade for
t he prevention of accidents.

63. Children had access to nedical treatnent free of charge. Owing to the
shortage of public funds, however, it was proving difficult to purchase
adequat e nedi cal supplies, which were extrenely expensive in a market econony.
Patients m ght eventually be charged for specialized services in sone nedica
establishnments. \Where facilities were not available within the country,
patients were occasionally sent abroad for treatnent.

64. Many ill nesses such as tuberculosis were often the consequence of
poverty, and strenuous efforts were being nade to deal with that problemin
Azer baijan; the market econonmy would eventually help in overcom ng such
illnesses. The CGovernnent had a programme of support for marriage and the
fam |y, and consul tancy and advisory services were available to couples before
their marriage. There was a need for invalid chairs for children, and

consi deration was being given to building a factory to produce them at

present they were very expensive to buy. The refugees would soon be returning
to their hones, and it was expected that there would then be a sharp increase
in the nunber of children injured by |landm nes. The Red Cross and

Red Crescent had al ready opened an orthopaedi ¢ hospital where children could
be fitted with artificial linmbs. |If a famly had an invalid child it received
a benefit. A great deal of effort was being put into integrating disabled
children into society: they received special treatnent on public transport,
and were encouraged to engage in sporting activities.

65. M. GARAEV (Azerbaijan) said that, since the Beijing Conference in 1995
t here had been intensive devel opnent of wonen's organi zations in Azerbaij an.
There was no discrimnation between boys and girls in the country, even at the
| evel of attitudes. Fornerly, “difficult” children had been those who had
grown up in famlies where one or both parents were al cohol -dependent or where
one of the parents was in prison; now a nmuch wi der range of “difficult”
children were targeted, nost of themchildren who had grown up without parents
as a result of the war.

66. A State departnment was responsible for nonitoring the environnment, and
ot her organi zations were involved, such as G eenpeace and those representing
young peopl e who were concerned about environmental matters.

67. Child prostitution was strictly prohibited by law, and there was little
i nformati on concerning it. The Governnent had investigated a newspaper report
on the subject but had failed to find any evidence of what had been descri bed
as child prostitution. No research on the subject had been carried out, but
consi derati on would be given to conm ssioning such work in the future.

68. Bef ore Azerbaijani children could enjoy all the rights established in

the Convention, as sonething that should be offered by a normal society, the
difficulties caused by the Arnmeni an aggression had first to be overcone, for
they were the main cause of the problens suffered by Azerbaijani children



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 10

69. Azerbaijan had all the necessary schools for young children and, when

| arge enterprises which had had their own kindergartens had been forced to

cl ose down because of the econonic situation, the children had been taken into
government ki ndergartens. Research was being carried out, with UNI CEF

assi stance, on the psychol ogical rehabilitation and psychol ogi cal heal th of
children affected by the new economi c situation and the Armeni an aggression
Such research would formthe basis for any future action

70. A conference had recently been held on the state of reproductive health
in Azerbaijan, and a special programme on the reproductive health of the
famly was being inplenented by the Mnistry of Health in cooperation with

i nternational non-governnental organizations operating in the country.
Proposal s for a fam |y planning programre ained at young people were being
consi dered by a parlianentary conm ssion

71. On the question of recreational facilities for children, he said that
the country's econom c situation inmposed constraints in that area, but since
the establishnment of the Mnistry of Youth and Sports a progranme had been
devel oped that involved the entire population in sports activities as a form
of health nmeasure. The Governnent, in cooperation with many NGOs and al so
private compani es, was taking action to provide leisure facilities for young
peopl e, but there were economic difficulties which especially affected those
children who were living in tented canps.

72. Educati on was conpul sory in Azerbaijan up to the eighth grade.

73. The CHAI RPERSON asked the del egation of Azerbaijan to forgive nenbers of
the Conmittee if they seened to be too idealistic in their expectations; they
were guided only by the Convention, however, and by Azerbaijan's ratification
of that instrunment. There had been a dearth of information in the report, and
it was inmportant to seek as nmuch as possible in order that the Comrittee m ght
fulfil its responsibilities towards the children of Azerbaijan. She invited
further questions fromnenbers of the Committee.

74. Ms. SARDENBERG said that, despite the delegation's denial of the

exi stence in Azerbaijan of gender-based discrimnation, information avail able
to the Committee indicated that it was to be found there, chiefly in respect
of such matters as job opportunities.

75. Rat her than stigmatizing children by referring to themas “difficult”,
it mght be better to use the term enployed by UNICEF, “children in specially
difficult circunstances”. There was a close |ink between a healthy
environnent and enjoyment of the rights of the child; the environnent nust be
a subject of study in schools, where it could be taught both easily and
cheaply. The report referred to there being few cases of sexual exploitation
of children, and nmentioned legislation in general rather than specific
measures. Consideration needed to be given to preventive and ot her measures
i nvol ving NGCs, the nmedia and public awareness canpaigns, with the collection
i f possible, of gender-specific data. Under an international cooperation
project, the United Nations Centre for Human Ri ghts had been providing
Azerbaijan with technical assistance designed to strengthen the rule of |aw.



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 11

Had there been any followup to that project, and what was the Governnent's
view of it? |In general, what priorities did the Government have for further
i nternational technical assistance?

76. M. KOLOSOV said that, given the increase in juvenile delinquency and
adol escent crinme in Azerbaijan, thought should be given to the establishnent
there of specially trained juvenile courts. |ndependent, rather than
Government control of corrective |abour institutions for adol escents was
extremely inportant, because there had been cases of adol escents' rights being
violated in such institutions. People other than the police and officials of
the Mnistries of Internal Affairs and Education had to be involved and socia
institutions should be allowed to deal with conplaints of violations of
rights. At present conplaints were addressed to the very persons about whom
the conpl aints were nade. Azerbaijan could be the first country in the
Conmonweal t h of | ndependent States to establish an Orbudsman for the rights of
the child. He or she should be a person who was conpl etely independent, who
reported only to the Parlianment and who had the right to take | egislative
initiatives and to investigate specific cases.

77. Ms. MBA said she well understood the econom c and other difficulties
to which the del egation had referred; she had been dealing with war, poverty,
colonialismand economic difficulties as a nmenber of the Indonesian Parlianent
for nore than 30 years. However, children could not be expected to wait:

i mprovenents could be made and had to be made. The written reply to

guestion 48 of the list of issues concerning child | abour had referred to

| abour | egislation, but the very fact that |egal provisions existed meant that
t he Governnent acknow edged that child | abour existed or that it anticipated
that it would beconme a problemin the future. Wat nonitoring facilities and
mechani sms were in place to ensure that child | abour was elimnated? In
particul ar, what was being done to stop child |abour in the informl sector
where nost children were working and where they nmet the nost hazardous
conditions? The witten reply to question 50 of the list of issues |ikew se
referred to |l egal provisions on sexual abuse, thereby acknow edging that it
exi sted or anticipating that it nmight get worse. Gven that it was a crimna
of fence, what was the puni shnent for perpetrators? Since nost of the
perpetrators had nental health probl ens, had any thought been given to
provi di ng di agnostic and therapeutic facilities for then? Did the del egation
consider that in general Azerbaijan had a good system for monitoring the
situation of children?

78. Ms. KARP said that nost of the Commttee' s questions about the system
of juvenile justice had not been answered. Fromthe dearth of information
concerning the nunber of children in institutions, the offences that were
conmitted and the discretion of the courts, it could be assuned that the
Azerbaijani juvenile justice system needed conprehensive reform not only
with regard to the establishnment of juvenile courts but also in many other
respects, such as the establishnment of a system of alternative punishnents,
movement away fromthe crimnal justice system and devel opment of m ni mum
standards for institutions and mechanisnms for nonitoring the system The
Convention contained provisions relating to the juvenile justice system but
there were also other international instrunments that dealt with the subject.
She referred the delegation to the Beijing Rules and other United Nations
standards for the adnministration of juvenile justice, such as the



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 12

United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty
and the Riyadh Guidelines for the prevention of juvenile crime. Those

i nternational instrunments provided much useful guidance. The Comm ttee

itself had al so studied the juvenile justice system and the report of its

di scussion of the subject m ght be of sone assistance. There were also other
United Nations agencies which had programes and experts in that area, and
Azerbaijan should certainly consider turning to themfor technical assistance
in establishing a new and effective systemof juvenile justice.

79. In connection with the dearth of information concerning sexual abuse in
Azerbaijan, both in the famly and in prostitution, she urged that studies be
undertaken in order to ascertain the real situation. There was, after all, a

vicious circle in that the difficulties that hindered children in conplaining
about their abuse m ght also create a general inpression that the problemdid
not exist, whereas the real situation m ght be conpletely different.

80. M. RABAH asked how the juvenile courts were distributed throughout
Azer bai jan and whether the systemwas that of a one-court judge. He asked if
there were any statistics indicating the kinds of offences commtted by
juvenile offenders in Azerbaijan, and whether the sentences passed on them
were adapted to their age. The witten reply to question 46 of the list of

i ssues stated that pre-trial detention in custody had applied to 59 peopl e,
and that the nunmber of children detained for not nore than three hours had
been 6,323 in 1996 and 1,580 in the first quarter of 1997; three hours seened
a surprisingly short period of detention

81. Under articles 84 and 90 of Azerbaijan's Code of Crimnal Procedure, one
preventive neasure that could be enployed was the placenment of a mnor in an
appropriate children's facility or under the supervision of its parents,

guardi ans or custodi ans. Wo were those guardi ans and who was responsi bl e

for the minor? Where were the places of detention, and were the juveniles
detai ned there together with adults? What relationship was there between the
State and non-governnental organizations working with juvenile offenders, and
were there any training programmes for the police, |lawers, social workers and
judges who were involved in the systemof juvenile justice? Was l|legal aid
avail abl e automatically or was there a special procedure for obtaining it?

Did a sentence appear on a juvenile offender's record for anyone to see?

82. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan) said that nuch rermained to be done in

coordi nati ng and systemati zi ng soci al assistance programes and the Committee
coul d perhaps arrange for Azerbaijan to receive relevant technical assistance.
Governnental efforts were being nade at the local |evel to coordinate the
efforts of international organizations, anong them UNI CEF, the World Health
Organi zation and Médecins sans frontiéres. Assistance would al so be wel cone
in the preparation of draft legislation that would appropriately incorporate
the terms of the Convention

83. The National Assenbly was working to establish an office of onmbudsman in
the area of human rights. Although it would perhaps not be practical to
create a separate ombudsman for children’s rights, the idea of a children's
subdi vi sion was worth contenplating. No nechanisns were currently in place to
moni t or programes for children in difficult circunstances. Wth the
transition froma planned to a market econony, many fanilies were | aunching



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 13

smal | busi nesses, in which children played a role. It would perhaps be usefu
for the Mnistry of Youth and Sports Affairs, in conjunction with the
i nternati onal organizations, to review that problem

84. As Azerbaijan progressed toward a nmarket econony, and concurrently,
toward both urbanization and integration into the culture of Wstern Europe,

t he probl em of sexual abuse was sure to worsen. He agreed that efforts should
be made to grapple with its social and psychol ogi cal aspects, and to devel op
preventive measures. The notion that children were often reluctant to bring
to light instances of sexual abuse was an interesting one, and would be borne
in mnd. In future, efforts should be made to publicize sexual offences

agai nst children, as a |l esson to others.

85. Juvenil e court judges were generally not professional jurists, and were
el ected by the population as a whole. Punishnments for children depended on
the gravity of the crine. Children were seldomheld in preventive detention
but any such procedure was conducted in accordance with Azerbaijan

| egislation. All police stations had staff specially trained to deal with

m nors, generally persons with teaching or social work experience who were
often wonmen. He agreed that efforts should be made to bring such procedures
into accord with the ternms of the Convention. Under the former Soviet regine,
the arrest of an adol escent had severe consequences for his future prospects;
that was not the case under the present system He did not know whether a
child's crimnal history forned part of a permanent record.

86. There was one corrective labour facility in Azerbaijan, designed to
provi de education, cultural opportunities, and enploynment to 20 to 25 juvenile
of fenders. The latter were engaged in produci ng useful goods, nostly chairs
and tables. Their output was sold, and the Iinmted proceeds went partly to
the establishment and partly to the inmates.

87. Approximately 130 children under the age of 18 were held in juvenile
institutions in Azerbaijan, nost for theft. The majority were refugees, nany
of them orphans, who had stolen out of need. |If the Committee so w shed,

rel evant statistics could be provided. Mst children who had comm tted

of fences were not, however, held in detention facilities. Although they were
required to report to the appropriate institutions, they could be regularly
enpl oyed.

88. All juvenile justice faciities were currently overseen by the Mnistry
of Justice. The special schools and correctional institutions had specia
teacher-training centres; all personnel who taught in those facilities

were regul ar teachers working on a second shift. Furthernore, nedica

prof essional s nonitored the health of all institutionalized children

89. Ms. SARDENBERG t hanked the del egation of Azerbaijan for its spirit of
openness, as well as for its evident commtnment to the cause of children

She hoped that the del egati on woul d take vigorous action to encourage

i mpl enentation of the Conmittee’s various recomendations, in particular, the
establishnent of a children’s code, the devel opment of a conprehensive

i npl enmentation strategy in the econom c, social and political areas, the
creation of a coordinated system for decentralized cooperation, and greater

i nvol venment of NGOs. Under the ternms of article 3, paragraph 3, and of




CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 14

article 25 of the Convention, the Governnent should inprove the supervision of
children's institutions, and should ensure that the treatnent of children

pl aced in such facilities was subject to periodic review. Relevant nationa
| egi sl ati on shoul d be enacted and neasures should be adopted to ensure its

i mpl enentation. In that connection, Azerbaijan mght consider referring to
the NGO network recently organi zed under the auspices of the Departnent of
Public Information (DPl), to deal with the matter of juvenile justice.
Programes shoul d be devel oped for the social and psychol ogi cal recovery and
reintegration of disabled children and children in conflict situations, with
enphasis on famly and community participation. She hoped that Azerbaijan
woul d continue to benefit frominternational cooperation and give w de

di ssem nation to the Convention

90. Ms. OUEDRAOGO said she was heartened by Azerbaijan’s commtnment to
children, and in particular by the country's plans to adopt a children’ s code.
Various refornms could al ready be suggested in |light of the current discussion
They included establishnment of the age of sexual consent; revision of the age
of marital consent so as to nmake no distinction between girls and boys; and
reconsi deration of the m nimum worki ng age, taking into consideration the age
requi rement for conpul sory education. The CGovernnment shoul d introduce
measures to protect children fromnental and physical violence, develop a
nati onal children's policy overseen by a single coordinating body, strengthen
t he educational system and inprove the quality of teaching. Finally, it
shoul d accord especial attention to the notion of the best interests of the
child as well as to that of the child s right to be heard.

91. Ms. MOKHUANE said that Azerbaijan faced problens in the areas of

| egi slative reformand education in the rights of the child. It suffered,
furthermore, froma |ack of coordination anong governnental and

non- governmental actors, as well as amobng ministries, and would require
assistance in the area of institutional capacity-building. Both police

of ficers and menbers of the National Assenbly involved in the drafting of

| egi slation should be famliarized with the principles of the Convention
Furthernore, Azerbaijan should seek |asting solutions to the problens of
refugees and di spl aced persons, and shoul d provide, where possible, housing
and ot her support for them Those drafting national |egislation should
consult all levels of Azerbaijani society, and should draw on the expertise
of international bodies. 1In revising the Marriage and Fanily Code, the
proceedi ngs of the Fourth World Conference on Wonen shoul d be consul ted, and
the views of wonmen’s organi zati ons should be sought.

92. The Government shoul d endeavour to strengthen the deteriorating

heal th-care infrastructure, and should establish a nmental health-care system
with especial enphasis on children, wonen, and famlies. Lastly, it should

| aunch peace educati on and conflict nmanagenent programres.

93. Ms. KARP associated herself with the views that had been expressed by
ot her nmenbers of the Commttee. She assured Azerbaijan that the Conmittee was
not unaware of the crisis fromwhich that country was suffering. 1In
situations of conflict, the rights and needs of children were often forgotten
If the Azerbaijan Covernnent intended to allow refugee children to live in
tents until the war ended, it was incunbent on the Commttee to urge it to
reconsider its decision. |If not resolved in a tinely manner, certain



CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 15

i nci pi ent social problens, such as the health of the environment or the

exi stence of street children, would later entail a far greater social cost.
As a new nation, Azerbaijan had the unusual opportunity to create, fromthe
outset, viable national structures that would pronote favourable conditions
for children, and concomtantly, for society as a whole.

94. M. RABAH said that Azerbaijan nust attend to social and educationa
concerns despite the difficulties it faced. The establishment of viable
denocratic structures would protect the future of that country, and with it,
the future of its children; in the interval, NGOs nust necessarily play a
vital role in the inplenentation of the Convention.

95. M. KOLOSOV noted that nenbers of the Committee had made little
reference to the arned conflict in Azerbaijan, perhaps because the del egation
had nmentioned it so often. However, if even a single child participated in a
mlitary operation there, that was a matter of grave concern to the Committee
and the international comrunity. The Convention strictly proscribed the

i nvol venment of children in such conflicts.

96. He enphasi zed that the Azerbaijan Government shoul d endeavour to assess
the future inpact of all its policy decisions on the lives of children

97. The CHAI RPERSON invited the del egation of Azerbaijan to present its
concl udi ng renmarks.

98. M. EFENDI EV (Azerbaijan) said that he had been inpressed by the sincere
interest of the nmenbers of the Cormittee in the young citizens of Azerbaijan
He assured themthat their reconmmendations, as well as the interesting new

i deas they had put forward, would be taken into consideration by his
Governnment in the future

99. Azer bai jan was seeking to progress froma planned to a market econony,
while at sane the tinme struggling to maintain its newWy achi eved i ndependence.
Twenty per cent of its territory was occupied by Arnenia; over a mllion

di spl aced persons were living in 10 canps within Azerbaijan. He agreed that
the lives of its children were of crucial inportance to the future of the
country, and that the Convention was the fundamental instrunent on the basis
of which their lives could be protected. It was clear that Azerbaijan should
cooperate closely with the Coormittee. His delegation had answered the
guestions of menbers insofar as possible; further replies would be forwarded
to the Conmttee later in witing.

100. The CHAI RPERSON said that she associated herself with the views
expressed by the menmbers of the Conmittee. Although the Conmittee was
sensitive to the considerable difficulties facing Azerbaijan, its primary
concern was the protection of the rights of the children of that country. Al
actions taken on behalf of children should take into consideration the four
central precepts of the Convention: the best interests of the child; the
child s right to participate; the child s right to survival and devel opment;




CRC/ C/ SR. 392
page 16

and non-di scrimnation. She urged Azerbaijan to ensure the participation of
children in its society. An inportant fact to bear in mnd was that children
were their own best teachers. Consideration should perhaps be given to the
devel opnent of a peer-counselling system

101. Furthernore, considering the provisions of article 37 of the Convention,
she exhorted Azerbaijan to abolish capital punishment for children under the
age of 18.

102. Finally, the Governnent of Azerbaijan should give publicity toits

di al ogue with the Committee during the session, so as to acquaint the
popul ation with its rights and thereby guarantee the rights of children

The neeting rose at 1.05 p. m




